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STATEMENT OF THE C.,ASE 

On February 11, 2003, Complainant SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATION 

UNION, LOCAL 1107, AFL-CIO rSEIU") filed a Complaint with the LOC 

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD ("BoardK) all . 

that Respondent CLARK COUNTY violated NRS 288.270(I)(a) and (e) by reasaigniiijlj 

courtroom clerk/SEW steward Connie Kalski. Clark County subsequently filed motions fo 

deferral, which the Board denied, and on December 29, 2003, Clark County filed its Answer. 

The parties then filed pre,.hearing statements, ·and the Board scheduled SEIU's Complaint fo 

hearing. 

On November 3 and 4, 2004, the Board conducted the hearing, noticed in accordan 

with Nevada's Open Meeting Laws. At the conclusion of the hearing, the Board ordered th 

parties to file post•hearing briefs, which the parties filed on December 3, 2004. On Jamwy S 

2005, the Board conducted dehl>erations, noticed in accordance with Nevada's Open Meetin 

Laws. On February 11, 2005, and prior to entry of a final decision, SEIU filed a request fo 

dismissal without prejudice. On February 22, 2005, Clark County filed an opposition � th 
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1 request for dismissal and a countermotion for attorney's fees and costs. On March 18, 2005 

SEIU filed a request for withdrawal of the dismissal, stating that its request for dismissal 

been mistakenly filed. Because we grant SEIU's withdrawal request, issues relating to its requ 

for dismissal are moot, and this matter is now ripe for final decision. 

Having dehl>erated and considered the testimony of the witnesses, as well · as th _e

physical and verbal reactions while testifying. and having reviewed all evidence in the reco 

and the parties' post-hearing briefs. we find and conclude that Clark County's reassignment o 

Kalski did not violate NRS 288.270(1)(a) or (c). 

DISCUSSION 

FactNal BaekgroMIUl 

The evidence presented during the hearing demonstrates that smu and Clark Co 

have an ongoing collective bargainins reJationship and are parties to a collective bart�lingl 

agreement ("CBA "), which has been in effect since December 18, 1998. Since l 999, Shirl 

Parraguirre has served as the elected Clark County Clerk. There are approximately 270 position 

in the Clerlcs Office, including nearly 90 courtroom-clerk positions. Those positions ar 

assigned to one of two primary divisions, either the Civil-Criminal Division, which is located· 

downtown Las Vegas. or the Family Division, which is located at Pecos and Bonama Roads· 

Las Vegas. Parragwrre's personal office space is located within the Civil-Criminal Division. 

At the time of the hearing in this matter. Connie Kalski had been employed by the C1ar 

County Clerk's Office as a courtroom clerk for approximately six and oneahalf years. 

completing a probationary period, she joined SEIU. During the time period relevant here, --... 

served SEIU's members as a steward, a bargaining-team member, and a member of SEIU' 

Committee on Political Action. During Kalski1s tenure with the Clerk's Office, she was assign 

to the Civil...criminal Division as a relief courtroom clerk, then a chambers cowtroom clerk, th 

a relief courtroom clerk again until Parraguirre approved her request for assignment to th 

chambers of District Court Judge Donald Mosley. By all accounts, Katski has always perfonn 

ex.tremely well as a courtroom clerk and was a valued member of Mosley's chambers. 
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t Nonetheless, on January Is. 2003, after Kalski had been assigned to Mosley's chambers for tw 

years, Parraguirre notified Kalski that she would be reassigned to the Family Division. 

A11qlpis 

SEID claims that Clark County's reassignment of Kalski was motivated by hostili 

toward SEIU and/or discriminatoiy animus based on Kalski's protected activities as a S 

steward or on behalf of SEID members. As the Complainant, SEIU has the burden o 

establishing by a prq,onderance of the evidence that Kalski's protected conduct was a substanti 

or motivating factor in the City's decision to .n,assign her. Thereafter the burden shifts 1o Clar 

County to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that it would have reached the 

decision even in absence of the protected conduct. T C W. 

533 V 

Humboldt Gen. Hosp., Item No. 246, EMRB Case No's. A l-045459, Al-045460_, at 5 (1990) 

See also NLRB y. Interstate Builders,, Inc,, 3S1 F.3d 1020, 1026-27 (10th Cir. 2003); NLRB v 

Tf8JISl)Ortation MMagement CoIJ>., 462 U.S. 393, 398-404, 103 S. Ct. 2469, 2473-75 (1983) 

modified on other grounds by Director. v. 

Collieries, 512 U.S. 267, 114 S. Ct. 2251 (1994); see also Wright Line, 251 NLRB 1083, 108 

(1980). 

SEIU filed its Complaint in this matter on February 11, 2003. Notice of Kalski' 

reassignment was given to her on January 15, 2003. Thus, SEIU's cJaims related to 

reassignment are timdy. � NRS 288.110(4) ("The Board may not consider any complaint o 

appeal filed more than 6 months after the occwrence which is the subject of the complaint o 

appeal"). We will only consider evidence of any conduct occurring before the six-month perio 

i.e., before August 11, 2002, as background evidence to evaluate subsequent conduct that i 

within the six-month statue of limitations period. See !'JF�LlLldlJ...ml-"�!fflQR..� 

Henderson Police Officer's Ass'n, Item No. 547, EMRB Case No. A l-045756, at 23 (2004); 

also Local Lodge No. 1424 v. NLRB, 362 U.S. 411, 416-17, 80 S. Ct. 822, 826-27 (1960 

(recognizing same rule applies in proceedings before NLRB); News Printigg Co.. Inc.. 11 

NLRB 210, 212, 1956 WL 13970 (1956) (same). "[W]hile evidence of events occurring mo 
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l than six months before the filing of & charge may be used to •shed light' upon events taking pl 

within the six-month period, the evidence of a violation. drawn from within that period must b 

reasonably substantial in its own right." NLRB v. MacMillan Ring-Free Oil Co., Inc.
7 

394 F2 
 26, 33 (9th Cir. 1968). We now turn to discuss the evidence presented by the parties at th 

hearing on this matter. 

Evidence pntllininr dim:tlp ta tie re,miglUMIII ucmon 
On January 1s. 2003, P8lTlguirre informed Kalski by memorandum that she was to 

reassigned to the Family Division. Parraguirre informed Kalski that the reasons for th 

reassignment were: (1) Kabki's perception of hostility from management and various cowor 

at the Civil-Criminal Division; and (2) the Family Division•s need for additional courtroom cl 

support. 

According to Pmaguirre's testimony, prior to the reassigmnent decision, she had 

informed of a confrontation between Noretta Caldwell, a Clerk's Office supervisor, and Kalski 

and ofKalski's claim that she was in a hostile work environment. During a management retreat 

Parraguirre made the decision to reassign Kalski mainly because of Kalski's repeated allegatio 

of a hostile work environment and Parraguirre's concerns that some of Kalski's peers also fel 

that there was hostility in the workplace due to the way that Ka1ski handled situations. Also, th 

Family Division needed additional courtroom clerk support because two of the clerks assigned 

that division were on leave pursuant to the Family and Medical Leave Act. When Parraguin; 

reassigned Kalski, there was not an official "vacancy" at the Family Division, as that tenn i 

defined by Clark County Policy. Neverthel� in Clark County Policy and the CBA, Clar 

County reserved the right to make non-disciplinary reassignments to meet its operational needs. 

Shortly aft.er Kalski's -reassignment, another courtroom clerk was having problems with th 

judg� in the Family Division, so Parraguirre also reassigned that clerk to the Civil-Crimin 

Division. Parraguirre believed that because K.alski had always been an excellent clerk, sh 

would make an easy transition into the Family Division. 

At the time of Kalski's reassignment, Parraguirre had been working on a plan to reduce 

from two per co� the number of courtroom clerks in all court departments, by replacing th 
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1 with legal assistants. In the Civil-Criminal Division, only two departments still have two clerks 

The Family Division is currently operating at about one and one-half courtroom clerks per court. 

Vicky Hcdderman, who bas been President of SEIU Local 1107 for almost seven yi 

testified that she believes that Parraguirre reassigned Kalski because Parraguirre was very an 

that Kalski was a good union stew� who challenged Parraguirre on CBA violation� an 

because P1JTaguirre did not want "to look at [KaJski] on a daily basis." The evidence do 

demonstrate that the pihysical layout of the Civil-Criminal Division put Kalsk:i in the same 

as Parraguirre on a daily basis; however. the Family Division is approximately a twenty-•1Dlll· iutet 

drive from Parraguirre's personal office. 

District Court Judge Donald Mosley testified that Kalski worked fur him 

approximately two years before the reassignment. He never bad a better cleric, and K:allil� 

worked with his other staff exceptionally well. When Parraguirre first indicated to him 

Kai.ski would be reassigned. Parraguirre stated that she wanted to reduce his number of cler 

however, because he has the busiest cowtroom in Nevada. 

decision, and then Parraguirre, "kind of QUJle dean" and stated, "I just can't have her working · 

the office up there because it is diSIUptivc. She's· involved in union activities." Then PamUUlllffef 

said the issue was basically a 11personality thing.'' After this meeting. Parraguirre sent to Mosl 

memail dated January 15, 2003, stating, in part: 

Jud� thank you for taking the time to meeting with me co� our 
reassignment of one of your courtroom clerks to a position in Family Court. My 
purpose in asking to see you wu to give you a courte� notification in advance 
that we have deemed it necessary to reassign one of your courtroom cler� 
Connie Kalski. I did ask that our conversation be held in confidence and that the 
matter not be discussed with the clerk until such time as we had notified her of the 
reassisnment.. I explained to you the most � a}les1:tion of hostili� which 
Conrue perceives management and coworkers m this office have �t her, 
coupled with the fact that we.are two courtroom clerks short in Family Court due 
to medical conditions, md those are the business needs which are bemg· addressed 
by this reassignment. 

As requested bv ¥OU. we waited to do any formal notification of this reassignment 
until you could" give it some thought. However, I feel that it is necessary that this 
�gnment be done right away and it will be effective as of Tuesday, January 
21 . By our not acting on this unm.ediately, it bu already come to i_,ny attention 
that the union has become somewhat involved in this issue already which is what 
I wanted to prevent .... 
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Mosley characterized the email as Parraguirre's attempt to put her spin on her earli 

conversation with him. Mosley did not recall Parraguirre telling him, when they m� about an 

hostility between Kalski and her coworkers. Also, it was obvious to Mosley that there had b 

dissension between Kalski and Parraguirre, and Mosley could not see any apparent reason, ap 

from vindictiveness, for the reassignment. In response to Parraguirre's � Mosley ord 

Parraguirre to "cease any further attempt" to reduce the number of clerks in his -court until furtb 

discussion could be had by the judges of the district. When the matter went before these judg 

they determined that they should not preclude an elected official like Parraguirre from adju · 

her personnd. Subsequent to the reassignment of Ka1ski, but within a short amount of tim 

Mosley's chambers was given an additional clerk and Mosley wrrently has two clerks. 

Parraguirre admits that Mosley was very upset and objected to the reassignment 

However, she claims that she did tell him in their meeting that Kalski was having problems · 

her peers and with a supervisor. She claims that she never would have told him that her decisi 

was based on any union activity, but she might have mentioned that Kaiski was a union s:tewrarc:11 

and that some of her peers were not "happy with the way she might be handling some things. 1 

Parraguirre also testified that her reference in the January 15, 2003 email to Mosley regarding 

union's knowledge of the reassignment had only to do with her desire to infonn Kai� of 

reassignment before she heard it through other channels. Parraguirre did not want to nre1ren11 

SEID from knowing of the reassignment, but she wanted to prevent SEID ftom accusing C 

County of incorrectly handling the matter by not telling Kalski about the reassignment first. 

Kalski complains that she had to be retrained for the Family Court, starting over on 

again like a 11 new employee... Ka1ski also claims that the reassignment affected her performan 

as a steward because it is difficult for her to get downtown, if she is needed there. Additionally 

there is no longer a steward assigned to the Civil-Criminal Division, and SEIU membership ha 

declined. Judge Mosley testified that the Family Division is considered 1'Siberia," and people d 

not want to go there. However, other evidence shows that employees in need of help can · 

contact Kalski, and she does not claim to have been denied SEIU-related leave requests since th 

reassi�ent. Clerk's Office Family Division Administrative Services Manager Lo · 
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t Kozlowski testified that there is no overwhelming or significant viewpoint that one type of cler 

i.e., Civil-Criminal Division or Family Division clerk. is of lower status than the other. Th 

evidence also shows that Kalski's reassignment did not result in any probation or qualifym 

period, diminution in salary or benefits, or change in classification or hours of work. 

Fll11/u!r qulpu:e pgtginb,g to Pqrrapirre'a statetl nason., for tie twmlpune1tt 

Conflicts betwlln Kal6ld IIIUI ha eoworken 

The evidence generally shows that Kalski consistently (and somewhat uniquely, 

compared with other SEID stewards) provided strong advocacy on behalf of SEID members 

. that her stewardship was greatly valued by .SEIU officers. Both parties presented eviden 

showing that, while assigned to the Civil-Criminal Division, Kalski brought IDJ1merOW1 

complaints to Clark County regarding incidents between coworkers or between Kalski an 

coworkers. For instance, SEID showed that Kalski had complained to Lynda Foresta, 

supervisor of courtroom clerks, about a July 24, 2001 email that Foresta sent to all courtroo 

clerks. Kalski testified that other clerks complained to her that this email inapproptiately blmn 

all clerks for certain clerks' failures to respond to telephone messages. On or about August 3 

2001, Kalski sent to Foresta a memorandum on SEIU letterhead, lodging a complaint on 

of the clerks and requesting a voice-mail system. Kalski testified that a co-clerk, Penpy Wooer. 

came to Kalski the next day with the memorandum in hand, yelling at Kalski and so angJy 

she was spitting. Wisner complained that Ka1sld had no right to speak for her. Kalski adDntU!<I 

that several clerks disagreed with her response to Foresta's email. Kalski complained to Clerk' 

Office Management Analyst Edward May about Wisner's confrontation 

indicated that he would investigate. 

May's investigative record was also admitted into evidence. This record. along 

May's credl"ble testimony shows that on August 6, 200 l, Kalski wrote to him. stating, "I have no 

fully decided to :file anything, so I would ask that you not brief bee (Lynda [Foresta]) at 

point" On August 7. 2001, May received a letter from Kalski stating that due to the Wisn 

confrontation, Kalski was becoming increasingly concerned with her own safety and phy · 

wellbeing. Acoording to May. he met with Kalski on that same date, and she provided the nam 
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13 

1 of witnesses to the earlier alleged confrontation. During May's investigation, he intervi 

each of these witnesses, and be determined that he could not substantiate any incident o 

· workplace violence. Specifically. none of the witnesses obsetved ·any use of-physical force 

harm and all of the witnes.,es indicated that they did not perceive Wl81ler's actions as any type a 

act, threat, intimidati� or effort to cause fear or harm. May shared his findings with Kalski an 

. SEUJ Field Representative Bill Freeman on August 10, 2001. Kalski expressed h 

dissatisfaction with May's findings, but when May asked if she wanted the matter investigated o 

pursued further, she "promptly declined." 

Prior to the above-described August 10, 2001 meeting, May .had also received n 

complaints from Kalski indicating that she was being abused by coworkers WISllCI', C.arol 

and Billie Jo Craig and that another ooworker, Becky Foster, was rude to her and treated 

poorly. At the August 1 O meeting, Kalski also declined to have these matters invcstiga 

Although Ka1aki disputes whether she declined further investigation into these � sh 

admitted that she did not follow the procedures for reporting workplace violence that an, 

forth in, Clark County Policy. 

In another inmmce, Kalski, acting as a steward, complained to Lynda Foresta that a oo 

· clerk, Carol � had been insubordinate when declining to cover a courtroom at the request o 

her supervisor, Denise Trujillo. Foresta responded on November 12, 2002, stating that th 

allegation was unsubstantiated and that Trujillo had only bem asking for volunteers. On 

another occasion, K.alski lodsed a complaint on behalf of co-clerk Carole D'Aloia, related to 

dispute between D'Aloia and Carol Green. As a result of the investigation into this complaint. i 

was determined that both parties were at fiwlt for displaying unprofessional conduct. 

however, stated that she did not want to see the matter drop and that she wanted progressi 

discipline meted out to Green. The testimony of Denise Trujillo, along with her notes dat 

November 15, 2002, shows that Kalslci met with Trujillo, insisted that Trujillo not let th 

Green/D'Aloia incident drop, and accused Trujillo of lying about the above-noted alleg 

insubordination of Green. During this meeting, Kalski threatened to file a grievance agamsq 
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1 Trujillo, Trujillo's co-supervisor, Cindy Horton, Ed May, Foresta and Parraguirre for promo · 

a hostile work enviromnent. Trujillo reported this threat to May and Foresta. 

Trujillo was very credtl>le as a witness and by her testimony shed helpful light on th 

dynamics within the Clerk's Office. She bad been Kalski's supervisor while Ka1ski was assign 

to both the Civil-Criminal and Family Divisions. Trujillo bad no conflicts with Kalski as a unio 

. steward but was aware that other employees did. Trujillo was sympathetic toward KaJski, an 

did not think the conft.icta were necessarily Kalski's fault, though Kalski takes a "strong position 

for whomever she is defendinB. Trujillo testified that there were many conflicts amon 

employees .in the Clerk'.s Ofli� and most 1
of these stemmed trom 1one person," but not Kalski 

Trujillo testified that Kalski could not have done anything right in the eyes of Carol Gr 

Penny W'tsner, Billie Jo Craig and Becky Foster. Trujillo also testified that since Kalski left th 

Civil-CriminaJ Division, the workplace environment there is "much, much better." 

Ka1ski also testified regarding the incident involving Noretta Caldwell, upon wbi 

Parraguirre also relied for the reassignment decision here. Kalski explained that she 

imtructed through Clerk's Office meeting minutes that SEID flyers were to be placed only in th 

employees' break room. Therefoire, on August 23, 2002, Kalski requested that Denise Trujill 

instruct the s taff not to throw away SEID flyers left in the break room Kalski received 

response to this request. However, presumably, at some point, this policy was changed beca 

the evidence also showed that on December 27. 2002, Ka1ski bad been distnbu1mg 

bulletins» and some of these she placed on the employees' side of the front legal counters. 

result, Supervisor Noretta Caldwell confronted � and according to Kalski, yelled at her. 

said that she could not place bulletins on the public counter. 

Both Caldwell and Kalski complained to May. Caldwell denied yelling at Kalski, 

claimed that Kalski yelled at her. May determined that Caldwell misunderstood the n 

literature policy but that her judgment as to whether SEID literature could be placed on th 

public side of the counter was accurate. According to May's report, on December 27, 2002, h 

met with Kai� and Chief SEID Steward Pat Black regarding this incident. Kalski and B 

informed him that Kalski was being unfairly targeted by certain management, supervisors an 
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1 . 
staff. When leaving this meeting. Kalski and Black told May that they would be documen 

any future incidents of hostile treatment toward KaJsk:i, and Kalski threatened to file a comp) · 

· with this Board. M:ay also testified that the problems between Ka1ski and her coworkers hav 

ceased since her move. He also has not seen her bring as many issues forth as a union stewar 

even though he works at the Family Division two days a week and is still the primary point o 

contact for SEIU. 

Clark County also presented evidence of the opinion of Billie Jo Craig, Kalski's cowork 

and a former SEIU steward, that Kalski was an unapproachable bully, who is argumentative 

vmdictive toward fellow employees and PaaBgllirre, and does not abide by office rules 

However, SBIU President Heddennan descnoed Craig as having been an inactive steward, 

Heddennan suggested that Craig might have viewed Kalski as a threat. 

Clarlc: County presented additional testimony and a letter from Josephine Kelley, wh 

previously served as a SEilJ steward and wu a data entry clerk for the Clerk's Oftk:e assigned 

the Family Division until she retired in November 2001.  Kelley described Parraguirre as ha • 

an open-door policy and a great deal of respect for people representing SHIU. Kelley resign 

from SEIU in October 2001, and she felt that SEIU was trying to cause problems and never gav 

Parraguirre a chance. Kelley never observed Kalski as a steward. 

Juanita Fulbright, a Clerk's Office legal assistant. testified that she was SEIU stewali 

from 2001 to 2003. Pat Black once told her that she and Co-steward Valerie Riggs should 

"ogung ho," like Kalski Fulbright stated that when employees brought problems to her, she 

typically able to resolve them amicably. Fulbright opined that Kalski had a vendetta agai 

Parraguirre and that Kalski felt that she wa&y as a steward, equal to Parraguirre. Fulbright view 

the position of steward as on the same level as the employee and not the department head. 

Cindy Horton testified that, some years earlier, she bad reassigned Kalski from a positi 

as a chambers clerk because of differences between Kalski and co-clerk. Nora Pena. Wb 

Horton informed Kalski of this reassignment, Kalski was upset and yelling. When Ka1ski yell 

at Pena, Kalski was 11coming up over the table." Horton stated that she filed with Clark C 

forms alleging workplace violence by Kalski, but County Risk Managea,nent sent the forms 
( 
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1 and told her it was her problem and to deal with it. According to Horton, when Kais 

represented a SEIU member she was always yelling, and the yelling was directed at Parra · 

and ·not to help the ·employee . .  Horton claimed that K:alski had few :friends and that ·most o 

Kalski's coworkers were intimidated by her. 

Clark County's Deputy Director of Human Resources Raymond Visconti testified that · 

his opinion, Kalski's problems at the -Clerk's Office were due to personality conflict� v.. i,rm;19 

union•steward issues. VtSCOnti testified that since the re'1Ssignment of Kalslci. he had received n 

complaints about Kalski. For this reason. Visconti would say the Civil-Criminal Divisio 

employees were having problems with Ka1ski versus the other way around. Similarly 

Kozlowski testified that Kalski appears to fit into the environment in the Family Division. 

QpgatiD,,al neetla of tu Fqn,ilp Division 

In addition to Parraguim,'s testimony regarding the operational needs of the Clerk' 

Office. Clarie County presented persuasive testimony from Kozlowski, who was also involved · 

the decision 10 reassign Kalski. At the time of that decision, the Family Division .a�wu"""' 

augmentation of courtroom clerk support because two current clerks in that division w 

occupying positions but were on leave and not working. (Some time later, one of these cl 

died and one medically retired, and these clerks' positions were cut or traded out of the F 

Division.) Kozlowski could not go through normal personnel actions to fill a vacancy becau 

he did not have an actual "vacancy .11 Kozlowski also understood that .Kalski was havin 

problems with the Civil-Criminal Division not being a good fit or being a hostile environment 

However, Kalski's status as a SEIU steward did not come up in the discussions regarding h 

reassignment. 

E11ille11ce pe,tainiag to tlut lwtorv o[Pam,g,,irtt's r,ltdionship Jf1ith SElll. in general. 1111d 

evidence p,pente.,l lw SEIU to show impmpa motn,e 

Pam,g,,irtt'1 nlatiomldp will, SEIU. ;,. goravl 

SHIU attempted to show that Parraguirre had a poor relationship with SEIU and wi 

Kalski as a steward. Hedderman testified that she met Parraguirre when Parraguirre was 

campaigning for County Clerk and seeking the endorsement of the Central Labor Council. 
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1 ParraguiJTe obtained the endorseroen\ but Hedderman asked that both Parraguirre and h 

opponent speak to SEIU's members and executive board. According to Heddennan, SEID 

the only union that made Parraguirre come before it, and Parraguirre held a grudge over this. 

Hedderman further testified that when Kalski was appointed as a steward, Hedllen� 

submitted the usual letter of appointment to Clark County officials. Hedderman received 

response letter from Parraguirre indicating that Parraguirre thought it was her ri� not SEIU' 

to appoint a steward. Hedderman's efforts to improve the "bad" relationship between SEIU 

ParraguiJTe were unsuccessful. 

Kalski testified that Parraguirre is a ''bad boss. She has . . . little or no respect for th 

employees, little or no respect for what it is we were trying to accomplish for the County. Sh 

likes to meet [sic] out discipline. That discipline is usually unneceuarily harsh." Kalski cl · 

that, as a steward, she stood her ground with Pamguirre as to labor-management issues, but 

an employee� Kalski was polite and cordial, even though Parraguitre would "bark" at her. Alo 

a similar vein, Linda Trujillo testified that her own habit of fighting fur employees or standing u 

for one employee was not always welcomed. Ahhough Parraguirre never discussed SEIU wi 

Trojillo, Parraguirre told Trujillo many times that she was "too nice or too union to be a g 

supervisor." 

Pursuant to the CBA, as the Deparbnent Head, Parraguirre is the person with authority t 

decide step one of the grievance procedure for aerie's Office employees. Hedderman testifie 

that she met with Parraguirre over one such grievance and "[i]t was, basically, just a no go. 

[Parraguirre] pretty much just said that she was the boss; she could do what she wanted. 

Hedderman felt that she could not work with Parraguirre, and she asked SEilJ's Execu · 

Director. Thomas Beatty. to intervene. Howevers according to Heddennan, Beatty's efforts · 

Parraguirre also left him with no hope for a better relationship between Parraguirre and SEIU. 

When Parraguirre ran for reelection, SEIU would not endorse her and activel 

campaigned in support of her political opponent. Parraguirre admitted in her own testimony tha 

she was aware that Kalski was involved in SEilYs campaign efforts. 

evidence that it was involved in bringing public attention to the fact that until July 2002 
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I Parraguirre had failed to track medical malpractice cases as required by Nevada Statutes. 

According to Kalski, as a result of SEIU's publicizing of the issue, Pamguirre lost som 

endorsements. 

F'mally, in his testimony, Raymond Visconti descnbed Kalski's uniOD-•ffl'!1wa:r"<I 

relationship with Parraguirre as a "problem relationship." Visconti testified that outside th 

formal process, he thought that "Parraguirre was having an issue trying to figure out w 

Connie was a union steward and when she was not." 

t,rrapirre's COIIIIMllb r,latrdtoArtiden oftl,e CB.4 

The evidence demonstrates that the Clerk's Office conducts regular staff meeting 

attended by its supervisors and managers. Notes from these meetings are then distributed to al 

Clerk's Office employees. Further, in 2001, the parties had reopened negotiations on Article 21 

of the CBA, which bad allowed for merit sabuy increases of uro to six percent. After the 

negotiations, merit increases were to be based on a pass/fail determination, resulting in either 

2:ero-percent, or a four-percent, increase. Hedderman testified that SEIU did not want to prohi · 

Clark County from giving more than a four-percent adjustment, it only wanted to make sure 

any adjustments were at least at the four-percent level. Under the fonner system, anything le 

than a two-percent adjustment was subject to the grievance procedure, and Clark County 

this as a budget tool, typically giving salmy adjustmenta just above two percent. 

The Clerk's Office meeting notes from a June 28, 2001 meeting reflect as follows: 

Sbidey [Parraguirre] announced that the County and muon have come to an 
agreement on Article 21, and departments are now locked in at 4% for merit 
increases effective July 1, 2001. . . . Shirley wants employees to know that 
management of this department strongly 01>1>oses this ap-eement, even tho� we 
are bound by it. County HR bas advised -that there is no way at this time for 
em_ployees to receive more than the 4%. Management has been advised that the 
umon, prior to the vote on this issue, told union membership that th� would still 
be able to receive more than the 4% if approved by the department head. That is 
simply not true. 

Supervisors should continue to tell employees what their increase would have 
been on the O - 6% policy based on their point score. 

Panaguirre testified that she only told supervisors that· they could (versus should) tel 

employees what their raise under the old system would have been. She claims that she made thi 
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1 statement because she hoped to implement a program to reward exceptional employees. SE 

argues, however, that Parraguirre's commentis are indicative of her desire to tum employees awa 

from union membership. 

In any case, on August 10, 2001, SERJ officers and stewards sent a letter to Parra 

objecting to her attempts to erode member confidence in SEID, and disagreeing with 

interpretation of Article 21 as a SEIU-won prohibition on higher salaJY increases. 

Tie Sl!ltkment ofpievanca om: mdpline for internet � 

smu presented evidence showing that sometime in 2001, more than a do7.en Clerk' 

Office employees were disciplined for inappropriate use of the Clark County email or intern 

system. Most of these employees were given written reprimands, for which, under the parties 

CB.A, relief may only be sought through step one of the grievance procedure. Some employ 

. were suspended, however, and were entitled to pw-sue further relief under the CBA Kalski an 

Field Representative Freeman filed a class-action grievance on behalf of the employees. At. 

· ·one ofthe grievance procedure, ·pmaguirre and other county representatives met with Kalslci 

Freeman. According to Kalski's testimony, during the meeting, Parraguirre pounded on her de 

and called Kalski difficult. Panaguirre upheld the discipline, and the suspensions proceeded 

·step two of the grievance prooedure, an appeal to the CJark County Human Resourcies Director. 

Kalski and Freeman met with Raymond Visconti., who confinned in his own testimony that aft 

meeting with SEIU representatives, he spoke with Parraguirre and informed her that C 

County had a new, more liberal-int-emet policy· coming -into place. He ·asked if P-arragujrre woul · 

consider reversing the reprimands and suspensions. Ultimately, Clark County settled with SEIU 

the disciplinary decisions were reversed and all employees were started with the new Oar: 

County internet policy. 

According to Parraguirre's testimony. she agreed to reverse the disciplinary action 

because she learned that Clark County was relaxing its email or internet policy. She could no 

remember if Visconti actually rescinded the disciplinary decisions, but she personally decided 

rescind the discipline imposed after speaking with Visconti. She testified, ''It had nothing to d 

at all with the union. 1' In contra� Visconti testified that his discussion with SE · 

540B - 14 

2 

3 
4 

s 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11  

12 

13 
14 

1 s 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 



5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

21 I I I  

2s If f 

S40Be-1S 

1 representatives at step two of the grievance process led to the agr�t to settle the grievances 

He made 1he recommendation to settle, and he could not say whether Parraguirre would baY 

settled the grievances if he bad not been involved. 

1"e SEICI "victmy rq,ort" Qw aJUlrelatedmuting 

On or about January 10, 2002. SBIU distnbutcd throughout Clark County a flyer with 

special victory report, attributed to Kalski, on the settlanent of the grievances over the internet 

use discipline. On January 14, 2002, Kalski and Beatty went to meet with Parraguirre in 

effort to improve relationships. When Kalski and Beatty entered Parraguirre's offi<:e, B 

asked how Parraguirre was doing. Parraguirre brought out a copy of the victory report flyer, sai 

that she was doing fine until she had to look at it, and threw the flyer down on her desk. B 

tried to explain that when SEIU obtains a decision that disciplinary action was incorrect:, SEIU · 

going to let people know of the victoty. Parraguirre said that she was disgusted by it and that · 

was all lies. Beatty then said that it was apparent there would be no cooperation betw 

Parraguirre and SEW, and he and Kalski left. SEID Steward Valerie Riggs stayed behind . 

Parraguirre's office, apparently because another steward, Juanita Fulbright, had not yet arriv 

for the meeting. 

Parraguirre testified that she held the abovo-described meeting with Beatty and Kai 

because Clark County Human Resources had requested her to consider working with Beatty o 

issues involving Kalsld. Pamguirre admitted that she "reacted" to SEilJ's flyer at the m.-w,;,,i 

and that she normally raises her voice a little bit when she reacts. However, Parraguirre c,WlllleQ 

that Beatty also raised his voice. 

According to Kalski's testimony, after the meeting with Parraguirre, the courtroom cl 

were called into the Clerk's Office break rooms. Pmaguirre informed them that she had decid 

not to proceed with the discipline and that Clark County was coming out with a new intern 

policy. Among other statements. Parraguirre told employees that now they could "all go onlin 

shopping at Sears." 
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l On January 15, 2002, Parraguirre sent an email to SEID Stewards Fulbright and Riggs 

which Parraguirre copied to Kalski. In this email, Parraguirre informed Fulbright and Riggs 

Beatty and Kalski bad mistreated them at the meeting. The email states: 

Juanita [Fulbriaht ], I would like to extend � apolo� to you for starting the 
meeting yesterdayi· before you anived. Valene -�ggs] had indicated to me· that 
you were on your flex: day, but that she was quite sure you were coming to the 
meeting. Knowing � I feel we should have waited a few minutes for you to 
anive. -When Thom and Comrie walked in and Thom asked me how � were 
going, I answered him immediately about the newsletter article not showing any 
spirit of cooperation and it went from there. 

Valerie, / also felt very badly for you as nothing was said to you by Thom and 
Connie when they exited the meeting and as a union steward, tM same as Connie, 
I don't believe you deserved that treatment. You were then left � �th 
management, but were here when Juanita arrived so that you could assist in letting 
her know what transpired at the meeting .i . . i. 

On the same date, Parraguirre drafted a letter to Beatty. 

expressed her disappointment that the meeting was so abruptly terminated. Parraguirre al 

noted that Kalski had earlier raised employees' concerns about the Clerk's Office staff m • 

notes. Parraguirre then informed Beatty that a survey had been conducted showing that Clerk' 

Office employees appreciated the meeting notes, and that Kalski's contrary perception might b 

wrong. 

· In response, Beatty wrote to ParraguiiTe, stating in part: 

These survey results are not enough to discredit the critiques offered by Union 
Steward Connie Kalski. In fa.a, that you would again try  to discredit Ms . .Kalski 
by � a contrary opinion only indicates that you are not committed to 
working witli the Union to resolve issues. 

[Y]our continued defensiveness when it comes to issues raised by Union Steward 
Connie Kalski clearly shows your inabµity to work with her. Your response, an 
employee survey that is meant only to discredit Ms. Kais� is unacceptable. 

MucellaneOIIS htcitlenta o(gj/,red mistmllment o[Ka&ki 

SEIU also presented evidence that on August 23, 2002, ParraguiJTe denied a leave requ 

by Kalski, which Kalski made pursuant to the CBA's provisions allowing stewards time off 

SEID business. Article 8 • .  section 2 of the CBA provides that a properly submitted request 

leave for union business by a steward shall be granted "unless operational demands prohib · 

granting the request." Parraguirre's denial cites the reason of the "current operational needs" o 
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1 the Clerlc1s Office. The evidence also showed that at the time of this denial, Parraguirre w 

 facing the SEID-endorsed challenger in a primacy election and that Kalski was working on th 

challenger's campaign. On this point, however, Parraguirre credil>ly testified that Kalski' 

supervisor informed Parraguirre that Kalski already had vacation scheduled and approved for 

period before or after the requested time off; and that the supervisor felt that additional time o 

for Kalski would create a problem in handling the support of the court departments. Kalski di 

not pre.,ent any evidence refuting this testimony. 

Kalski also testified that after passing out one union flyer at work, she heard 

Parraguirre was "really mad" and that she was going to 11get it." Therefore, SEIU's Beatty sent 

Jetter to Raymond Visconti. In the letter, Beatty infonned Visconti that 11certain individuals' 

overheard Parraguirre make a threat to the effect that she "intended to get" Kalski for distri 

union leaflets critical of Parraguirre. He asked that Visconti intervene in the matter. Accor. · . 

to Visconti's testimony, he checked with Parraguirre, who denied SEIU's allegation&. an 

VlSCODti contacted Beatty and told him the matter had been handled. Beatty seemed comfortabt 

with Visconti's response. 

Based on all of the evidence here, we conclude that SEW established that Parraguirre 

a strained relationship with the SEID and with Kalski, and 1hat Kalski's protected conduct was 

factor in the decision to reassign her, but it was not a substantial or motivating factor. Instead 

we are conviooed that the Countys decision. and more specifically, Parraguirre's decision, 

reassign Kalski was motivated by a legitimate desire to protect all employees in the workplace 

including Kalski, who repeatedly stated her belief that she was the target of hostility ftom 

coworkers, and to forestall any future claims of hostile work environment by ejther Ka1ski or b 

coworkers. Further, the reliable evidence demonstrates that the heated exchanges and confli 

between Kalski and her coworkers stemmed from animosity of a purely personal nature and tha 

Kalski's role as a union steward was merely incidental to, and a convenient excuse for, an 

e,ccbange of animosity between Kalski and her coworkers. Additionally, the testimony o 

Parraguirre and Kozlowski sufficiently demonstrates the legitimacy of the secondary reason fo 
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1 the reassignment, the urgent need for additional courtroom clerk support in the Family Divisio 

due to two clerks occupying positions but not perfonning any duties. We note that Kalski 

still perform her duties as a union steward from the Family Division. Furthermore. we 

persuaded that Clark County and Parraguirre would have made the same decision to reassi 

Kalski, even in the absence of Kalski's pr otected conduct on behalf of SEIU and its members. 

Nonetheless, this Board questions whether Parraguirre has a proper comprehension an 

respect for the role of employee organizations and their stewards. Our concerns stem, in p 

from Parraguirre's assertion to Hedderman that Parraguirre believed it was her right to appo· 

SEIU stewards. See NRS 288.270(1)(b) (prohibiting an employer from dominating, assistins · 

or interfering in the administration of an employee organization). Also, Parraguirre's testimo 

before this Board indicated an inability to acknowledge SEIU's role in the decision to ov-1nrn1 

the discipline imposed upon employees for use of the internet, when even Raymond VISCO 

acknowledged that SEIU's involvemeot at step two of the grievance procedure led to · 

recommendation to Parraguirre to overturn the discipline, which she had already refused t 

overturn at step one. 

Of further concern are the comments attn"buted to Pmaguine in the meeting notes o 

June 28,- 2001, and Parraguirre's January 15, 2002 email to SEIU stewards. In particular, 

unnecessarily commenting at the June 28, 2001 meeting on whether SEID had misled it 

members .before the vote on the change to the CBA's Article 21, and by indicating tha 

supervisors should (or could) continue to inform employees on what raises w ould have 

under the former system, Parraguirre arguably ran afoul of NRS Chapter 288's demands fur go 

faith bargaining JUtd respect for employee organi7.ations' rights to operate without interference 

an employer. Pa1T8guirre also arguably intended to interfere with the administration of SE 

when she expressed to Stewards Fulbright and Riggs that she perceived them to have 

mistreated by their Executive Director, Beatty, and by fellow steward Kalski. Each of th 

offensive oomments occurred before the six month-statute of limitations period began, and non 

are before us as an independent prohibited-labor-practice claim. See NRS 288.110(4). Still, th 
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t evidence of these comments suggests that Parraguirre may lade any genuine appreciation for th 
 protected role of an employee organiz.ation under NRS Chapter 288. 
 Laws granting employees the rights to organize and collectively bargain with th · 

employers. such as NRS Chapter 288, are intended to promote peace in labor relations. 

Truckee Meadows Fire Protection Dist. v, International Ass'n of Fmmpters, Local 2487, 1 

Nev. 367. 376-77, 849 P.2d 343, 350 (1993). Moreover, through NRS 288270(1), an emplo 

organization is protected from actions which would undercut its ability to fulfill its statutory rol 

as exclusive bargaining agent and defender of collective bargaining agreements. Parraguirre' 

above-noted comments violate the spirit, if not the letter, of NRS Chapter 288. We hav 

considered the comments in question as background evidence; however, c,vcn having done so 

we are unable to conclude that the decision to transfer Kalski was motivated by any prohibit 

animus. Even so, we m:press here our sincere hope that in the future Parraguirre 

saupulously honor the dictates and goals our Legista1ure has ex.pressed by enacting 

Chapter 288. 

F'INDINGS OF PACT 

1. SEIU is an "eempl 11 
oyee organimtfon as defined by NRS 288.040. 

2. Clark County is a "local government employer0 as defined by NRS 288.060, an 

its employees are "local government employee[s]" as defined by NRS 288.0S0. 

3. At the time of the allegations at issue herein. Clark County and SEIU were parti 

to a CBA in effect since 1998. 

4. Shirley Parraguirre bas served as the elected Clark County Clerk since 1999. 

S. Conni� Kalski is a cowtroom clerk employed by the Cerk's Office, and is and 

been a SEIU steward at all times relevant to SETIYs complaint. 

6. Parraguirre had a strained relationship with the SEIU and with Kalski. 

7. Kalski was a dedicated steward and valued by SEilJ; however, she a1so· 

conflicts with several of her coworkers in the Civil.Criminal Division of the Clerk's Offi� an 

these conflicts stemmed from animosity of a purely personal nature on the part of Kalski and/o 
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1 her coworkers, with any SEIU activity by Kai.ski being only incidental to, or a convenient excus 

for, such conflicts. 

8. On January 15, 2003, Parraguirre gave Kalski notice that she was to be reassign 

from the Civil-Criminal Division to the Family Division of the Clerk's Office. 

9. This reassignment involved a change in physical locations but did not involve 

change in classification, pay grade,. benefits or how-s of work. 

10. Kalski's ability to perform her duties as a SEIU steward has not been curtailed b 

the reassignment. 

11. Kalski's proteeted conduct was a factor in the decision to reassign her, but it 

not a substantial or motivating factor. because it was only incidental to the personal confli 

between Kalski and her coworkers. 

12. Clark County presented sufficient evidence to persuade this Boani that Kalski' 

reassignment was within Clark County Management's prerogative and wu done for legi....,· ..... 1 .... 

reasons including to promote a positive work environment by physically separating Kalski 

her coworkers and thereby protecting them from possible instances of hostility in the workp 

and to meet an immediate need for courtroom cleric: support in the Family Division. 

13. Clark County presented sufficient evidence to persuade this Board that it woul 

have reassigned Kalski even in the absence of Kalski's protected conduct. 

14. Neither Parraguirre nor any other representative of Clarlc County rea.i;sigi� 

Kalski to punish her for protected activity on behalf of SEIU or its members, or to interfere wi 

or affect the operation or activities of SEIU or Kalski's stewardship. 

15. As discussed in the above in the Summary Section of this Decisio� the evid 

reasonably raises the question of whether Parraguirre has a gem.Jine appreciation for th 

protected role of an employee organization under NRS Chapter 288; however, such eviden 

relates to events outside the statute of limitations period under NRS 288.110(4). 

16. Even considering the evidence from outside the statute of limitations period, 

cannot conclude that Clark County or Pamguirre violated NRS 288.270(1Xa) or (c) 

reassigning Kalski to the Family Division of the Cleric's Office. 
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IS 

17. To the extent that any factual determination in the preceding discussion section o 

this Decision is not separately set forth in this section, it is hereby ineorporated as a finding o 

fact. 

18. To the extent that any of these findings of fact might be more properly stated 

conclusions oflaw, they should be considered as such. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1 .  Good cause exists to grant SEIU's request to withdraw its February 2005 requ 

for a dismissal with prejudic:e. 

2. The Board has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter addressed b 

this Decision. pursuant to the provision& ofNRS Chapter 288. 

3. The evidence presented by the parties shows that neither Clark County nor any o 

its representatives, including Parraguirre. violated NRS 288.270(1Xa) or (c;) by remlSigtlilU!I 

Kalski. 

4. To the extent that my legal conclusion in the preceding discussion section of thi 

Decision is not separately set forth in this section, it is hereby incorporated as a conclusion o 

law. 

5. To the extent that any of these eonclusions of law might be more properly stat 

as findings of fact, they should be considered as suc:h. 
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1 ORDER 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED. ADJUDGED AND DECREED that SEIU's request t 

withdraw its February 1 1 ,  2005 Request for a Dismissal without �udice ·is hereby GRANTED. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Clark County is entitled to judgment in its favor. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for the benefit of employe&-management relatio 

Clark County shall post copies of this Decision at conspicuous locations, which are accessible · 
Clark Countys employees for a period of thirty (30) days. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that each party shall bear its own attorneys fees and cost 

in this matter. 

DATED this 20-. day of � 200S. 
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